IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEFFREY GLENN HUTCHINSON,	Capital Post Conviction Case
Appellant,	
vs.	Case No. SC08-99
STATE OF FLORIDA,	L. C. Case No. 98-1382-CF
Appellee.	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Direct Appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court for the First Judicial Circuit, in and for Okaloosa County, Florida, that denied Hutchinson's Sworn Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

CLYDE M. TAYLOR, JR. 119 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301 Tel: 850.224.1191

FX: 850.681.6362 Fla. Bar No. 129747 Court Appointed Registry Counsel for Appellant, Jeffrey Glenn Hutchinson

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal of a final Order Denying Defendant's Sworn Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief and Sworn Supplemental Insert rendered by the Hon. G. Robert Barron, Circuit Judge, on January 3, 2008 (R. Vol. VI, pp. 1077-1200; Vol. VII, pp. 1201-1320). The final order effectively rejected Hutchinson's sworn amended Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 motion for post conviction relief in a capital case.

The appellant, Jeffrey Glenn Hutchinson, was the defendant in the lower tribunal, the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit, in and for Okaloosa County, Florida. He will be referred to as "Hutchinson" or as "the defendant." The appellee, State of Florida, was the plaintiff in the trial court, and will be referred to here as "the state."

The record on appeal is in nine volumes.

Volumes I-VII contain post conviction pleadings, orders and related documents. The Clerk of the Circuit Court has placed a page number in the lower right hand corner of each page of these volumes. Thus, this part of the record will be referred to by the letter "R" (to designate the record on appeal), followed by an appropriate volume and page number.

Volumes VIII and IX contain the transcripts of the October 22, 2007, evidentiary hearing in the lower tribunal regarding Mr. Hutchinson's sworn

amended motion for post conviction relief. The court reporter has provided a page number in the upper right hand corner of each page of these transcripts. This part of the record will be referenced by the letter "R," followed by a volume number (either Volume VIII or IX), the letters "EH" (for evidentiary hearing) and an appropriate page number.

References to the record on appeal regarding Mr. Hutchinson's original direct appeal of his judgments and sentences in SC04-500 will be by the designation "OR" (or original record) followed by an appropriate volume and page number.

Any emphasis or additions to quotes or text will be acknowledged.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal of a final order rendered by the Hon. G. Robert Barron, Circuit Judge, on January 3, 2008 (R. Vol. VI, pp. 1077-1200, Vol. VII, pp. 1201-1320), denying Hutchinson's sworn amended Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 motion for post conviction relief in a capital case.

B. Jurisdiction:

This court has jurisdiction to review the lower court order denying Mr. Hutchinson's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 sworn amended motion for post conviction relief. Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(g).

C. Course of the Proceedings:

On October 5, 1998, Hutchinson was indicted by an Okaloosa County, Florida, grand jury and charged with four counts of first-degree murder. (R. Vol. I, p. 2). Hutchinson was originally represented in the trial court by the Office of the Public Defender for the First Judicial Circuit of Florida. That office withdrew because of a conflict of interest. Hutchinson was then represented by John Harrison, Esq., (deceased) and Nicholas Peterson, Esq., private, court appointed conflict attorneys. Prior to trial, these conflict

attorneys withdrew and were replaced by the husband and wife legal team of Stephen Cobb, Esq., and Kimberly Sisco Cobb (now Ward), Esq. The Cobbs became Hutchinson's trial counsel on September 2, 1999. (R. Vol. VI, p. 1079).

On January 8-18, 2001, Hutchinson was tried by jury in the guilt/ innocence phase of the trial. (R. Vol. I, p. 2). On January 18, 2001, the jury returned guilty as charged verdicts as to all counts. (R. Vol. I, p. 2; *Hutchinson v. State*, 882 So. 2d at 948).

A penalty phase trial per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, was held before the court only¹ on January 25, 2001. After conducting a *Spencer*² hearing, the trial court, on February 6, 2001, sentenced Hutchinson to life imprisonment for the murder of Renee Flaherty, and to death for each of the murders of her children, Logan, Amanda and Geoffrey Flaherty. (R. Vol. I, pp. 2-3; R. Vol. VI, pp. 1078-079).

_

Hutchinson waived his right to a jury during the penalty phase. *Hutchinson v. State*, 882 So. 2d at 948.

² Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688, 690-91 (Fla. 1993).

There was a direct appeal of the judgments of conviction and sentences under attack, including the death sentences. The defendant raised ten issues on appeal:

- 1. The trial court improperly instructed the jury.
- 2. The trial court erred in admitting certain testimony as an excited utterance.
- 3. The trial court erred in repeatedly overruling objections to the state's closing argument.
- 4. The trial court erred in denying Hutchinson's motion for mistrial.
- 5. The trial court erred in denying Hutchinson's motions for judgments of acquittal.
- 6. The trial court erred in denying Hutchinson's motion for a new trial.
- 7. The trial court erred in considering Section 921.141(5)(a), Florida Statutes, as an aggravating factor.
- 8. The trial court erred in finding that the murder of the children occurred during the course of an act of aggravated child abuse.
- 9. The trial court erred in finding heinous, atrocious or cruel as an aggravating factor in the murder of Geoffrey Flaherty.

10. The death sentences were not constitutionally proportional. *Hutchinson v. State*, 882 So. 2d at 949-50.

On July 1, 2004, the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed Hutchinson's judgments of conviction and sentences. *Hutchinson v. State*, 882 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 2004). On July 22, 2004, the mandate was issued.

The defendant did not file a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. (R. Vol. VI, pp. 1024-025).

An initial state court motion for post conviction relief per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 was timely filed on October 20, 2005. (R. Vol. I, pp. 1-72). Hutchinson was represented at this time by Jeffrey Hazen, Esq. (R. Vol. I, p. 71; R. Vol. VI, p. 1024). Hutchinson raised seven collateral claims:

- 1. Trial counsel was ineffective during the guilt/innocence phase of the trial.
- 2. The state improperly withheld relevant, exculpatory evidence during the trial, in violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and knowingly presented false evidence to the jury and judge, in violation of the constraints set forth in *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).
- 3. Hutchinson's constitutional rights were violated when he was shackled and restrained with an electronic device during trial.

- 4. Trial counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase of the state court trial.
- 5. Newly discovered evidence demonstrated that Hutchinson was denied a fair trial and due process of law.
- 6. Hutchinson's death sentences violated his right to trial by jury as provided for in *Jones v. United States*, 526 U.S. 227 (1999), ("under the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment and the notice and jury trial guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, any fact (other than prior convictions) that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt.") *See* also *Apprendi v, New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000); *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).
- 7. Hutchinson's trial was so fraught with errors that the cumulative effects of same denied him a fair trial and due process of law. (R. Vol. I, pp. 4-72).

The state filed a response to the post conviction motion on December 21, 2005. (R. Vol. I, pp. 73-104). While not admitting the correctness of any of the claims and raising the defense of procedural bar to some of them, the state did not object to an evidentiary hearing regarding Claims 1, 2 (on the *Brady* claim only), 3 (to the extent it was an ineffective claim), 4 and 7.

On March 13, 2006, the trial court, after a *Huff*³ hearing, ruled that the defendant was entitled to an evidentiary hearing regarding Claim 1 except for the assertion that the state had engaged in misconduct regarding a "jailhouse snitch" since no "jailhouse snitch" testified. (R. Vol. I, p. 105). The trial court granted an evidentiary hearing as to Claim 2 except for the *Giglio* claim that defense counsel withdrew. (R. Vol. I, pp. 105-06). The trial court granted an evidentiary hearing regarding Claims 3 and 4. The trial court denied an evidentiary hearing as to Claims 5 and 6, but granted an evidentiary hearing as to Claims 5 and 6, but granted an evidentiary hearing as to Claim 7. (R. Vol. I, pp. 106-08).

On October 16, 2006, after firing his registry counsel, Hutchinson filed a *pro se* amended initial motion for post conviction relief. (R. Vol. III, pp. 401-27). On October 17, 2006, the trial court ordered registry counsel to turn over their files to the defendant. (R. Vol. III, pp. 428-29). On that same day, Hutchinson filed a *pro se* corrected initial motion for post conviction relief. (R. Vol. III, pp. 430-96). On October 25, 2006, Hutchinson filed a *pro se* motion for leave to correct his amended motion for post conviction relief. (R. Vol. III, pp. 501-72). On October 27, 2006, the trial court denied Mr. Hutchinson's request to proceed *pro se* and struck all the *pro se* pleadings he had filed. (R. Vol. III, pp. 573-75). On November 3,

³ Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

2006, the trial court denied Hutchinson's motion for DNA testing. (R. Vol. III, pp. 576-600; R. Vol. IV, pp. 601-64).

On March 29, 2007, the trial court granted Hazen's motion to withdraw as Hutchinson's registry counsel and appointed Clyde M. Taylor, Jr., Esq., in his stead. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 672-74; R. Vol. VI, p. 1077).

On July 25, 2007, the trial court granted Hutchinson's motion (prepared by Mr. Taylor) for leave to again amend the Rule 3.851 motion. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 675-76). On August 15, 2007, a Sworn Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief, including an actual innocence claim, was filed on Hutchinson's behalf by Taylor. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 677-750.) In this motion, Hutchinson abandoned some of the claims set forth in the original motion for post conviction relief and realleged others contained in that original motion, included the following claims:

Claim I: Various claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel during the guilt/innocence phase of the trial that resulted in prejudice to the defendant. Hutchinson asserted in this regard a claim of actual innocence.

Claim II: Various claims that trial counsel were ineffective during the penalty phase of the trial.

Claim III: Cumulative ineffectiveness of trial counsel that was prejudicial to the defendant.

Claim IV: Hutchinson's assertion that he had been shackled and shocked with a high voltage electrical device during the trial to the extent that his constitutional rights were violated.

(R. Vol. IV, pp. 677-750).

On September 6, 2007, the state filed a response to the amended post conviction motion. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 751-86).

On October 11, 2007, the trial court rendered an order summarily denying the claims of "actual innocence" and that Hutchinson was not represented by conflict-free counsel, as alleged in the August 15, 2007, sworn amended motion. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 787-89; *see* also R. Vol. VI, p. 1077).

An evidentiary hearing on Hutchinson's Sworn Amended Motion for Post Conviction relief came on for consideration on October 17, 2007, in Shalimar, Florida, with Judge Barron presiding. (R. Vol. VIII, pp. 1-200; Vol. IX, pp. 202-82). At the beginning of the hearing, Hutchison filed a Sworn Supplemental Insert to Motion for Post Conviction Relief that alleged that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to present evidence, during the

penalty phase, that the defendant suffered from a bipolar mental disorder.

(R. Vol. IV, pp. 794-96). The trial court took that motion under advisement.

Judge Barron then heard testimony from various witnesses on Hutchinson's remaining post conviction claims. That testimony is summarized in the statement of the facts section of this brief at pages 19 – 39 below. Mr. Hutchinson did not testify at the evidentiary hearing. (R. Vol. VI, p. 1024).

On October 29, 2007, the state filed a formal response to the sworn supplemental insert to the motion for post conviction relief in which it addressed Hutchinson's bipolar claim. (R. Vol. V, pp. 1009-016.)

D. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal

On January 3, 2008, the trial court rendered a final Order Denying Defendant's Sworn Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief and Sworn Supplemental Insert to Motion for Post Conviction Relief. (R. Vol. VI, pp. 1077-1200; R. Vol. VII, pp. 1201-1320). On January 23, 2008, Mr. Hutchinson filed a timely notice of appeal of Judge Barron's final order. (R. Vol. VII, pp. 1321-322).

E. Statement of the Facts:

The basic facts of the case as relied upon by the Supreme Court of Florida on direct appeal of the original judgments and sentences.

The facts of the case as recited by this court on direct appeal are:

On the evening of the murders, Hutchinson and Renee argued. Hutchinson packed some of his clothes and guns into his truck, left and went to a bar. Renee then called her friend, Francis Pruitt (Pruitt), in Washington and told her that she thought Hutchinson had left for good. The bartender testified that Hutchinson arrived around 8 p.m. Hutchison told the bartender that "Renee is pissed off at me," drank one and a half glasses of beer and then left the bar muttering to himself. Other witnesses testified that Hutchinson drove recklessly after he left the bar.

Approximately forty minutes after Hutchinson left the bar, there was a 911 call from Hutchinson's home. The caller stated, "I just shot my family." Two of Hutchinson's close friends identified the caller's voice as Hutchinson's. Hutchinson said to the 911 operator, "there were some guys here." He told the operator that he did not know how many people were there, he did not know many had been hurt, and he did not know how they had been injured. Deputies arrived at Hutchinson's home within ten minutes of the 911 call and found Hutchinson on the ground in the garage with the cordless phone nearby. The phone call was still connected to the 911 operator. Deputies found Renee's body on the bed in the master bedroom, Amanda's body on the floor near the bed in the master bedroom, and Logan's body at the foot of the bed in the master bedroom. Each had been shot once in the head with a shotgun. Deputies found Geoffrey's body on the floor in the living room between the couch and the coffee table. He had been shot once in the chest and once in the head. The murder weapon, a Mossberg 12-gauge pistol-grip shotgun which belonged to Hutchinson, was found on the kitchen counter. Hutchinson had gunshot residue on his hands. He also had Geoffrey's body tissue on his leg.

Hutchinson v. State, 882 So. 2d 943, 948 (Fla. 2004).

The matters raised, considered and resolved, and the testimony presented, at the October 22, 2007, evidentiary hearing on the Sworn Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief.

At the beginning of the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Taylor asked the trial court to revisit the issue of the claim that during much of the time that Mr. Cobb was representing Mr. Hutchinson, he had a conflict of interest based upon the Florida Bar complaint that Hutchinson filed against him. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 6-9). Ms. Millsaps responded for the state by noting that as a matter of law a claim of conflict of interest under these circumstances was limited to those situations where one attorney represented multiple defendants. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 9-10). The trial court, treating Mr. Taylor's motion as a request for reconsideration of his previous ruling⁴ (that the conflict of interest claim should be summarily denied), denied it. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 10-11.) The trial court then allowed the entire Florida Bar complaint file to be made a part of the record so that the Supreme Court would have a full account of what had transpired. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 12-14).

See Judge Barron's October 11, 2007 Order Summarily Denying Additional Claims Raised in Defendant's Sworn Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 787-89; see also R. Vol. VI, p. 1077).

Next, Mr. Elmore asked for clarification regarding issues of alleged ineffective assistance of counsel raised in Hutchinson's original post conviction motion to vacate his judgments and sentences filed on October 20, 2005 (R. Vol. I, pp. 1-72) by Mr. Hazen that were not included in the August 15, 2007, Sworn Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief filed on Mr. Hutchinson's behalf by Mr. Taylor (R. Vol. IV, pp. 677-750). Mr. Taylor assured the trial court that he was proceeding only on what was in the August 15, 2007 motion. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 18).

Private Investigator Darryl Fields was the first witness called by the defense at the evidentiary hearing. He was appointed by the court to assist Mr. Peterson and Mr. Harrison. (R. Vol. VIII, p. 29). He has an extensive background as an investigator and in the field of law enforcement. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 20-2). He said that, in all his years in law enforcement, he had never investigated a shooting at close range with a high velocity weapon that did not include blood being found on the weapon involved in the incident. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 25). He read the police reports in the Hutchinson case which did not reveal the presence of blood on the murder weapon. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 26). He visited the crime scene and was allowed inside the Hutchinson residence. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 27). He noticed that the front door had pry marks on it and that the door had been repaired after sustaining

obvious damage. The back door had pry marks as well. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 27-8; see also R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 37-9). He located what he described as "a lady's stocking, nylon stocking," in the back yard of the residence. He reported his findings to attorneys Peterson and Harrison. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 27-9). His findings were contained in a written report that he provided defense counsel. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 30).

Fields later learned that there had been a change of attorneys, and made repeated efforts (a half dozen times) to speak to Mr. Cobb about his findings, but Cobb never returned his calls. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 30-1). He finally was able to speak to Cobb and, after explaining what investigative work he had done on the case, offered his services. Cobb advised him that he had his own investigator and that his (Fields') services were no longer needed. Cobb never asked him for a copy of the report he (Fields) had furnished prior counsel. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 31-2; see also R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 45-6).

On cross examination, Fields said that he had been qualified in the past as an expert witness in crime scene investigation. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 33). He did not examine the shotgun used in the homicides. Nor did he examine crime scene photographs, police photographs or autopsy reports. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 33-5, 37). It was his understanding that the victims

were shot at a range of between 1-3 feet. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 35). In answer to a series of questions from the court, he indicated that the house had been repaired at the time he inspected it. He could not recall how long after the homicides he did so. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 39-40).

Fields testified that the nylon stocking was found somewhere between the back of the residence and the pool located in the back yard. It was 5 or 6 feet from the house and about that same distance, or a little more, from the pool. He did not recall discussing the stocking with the defendant. He was not aware of what Mr. Hutchinson had said during the 911 call. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 41-4).

In response to questions from Judge Barron, Fields could not recall how he came to refer to the nylon stocking found in the back yard as a mask, but he thought it (the characterization of the item as a mask) may have come from one of the defense counsel. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 46-8). He turned the stocking over to either Mr. Harrison or Mr. Peterson. No eye holes were cut in it. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 49-50).

Kimberly Ward (formerly Cobb) was at the time of the trial married to and practicing criminal law with Mr. Cobb. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, p. 52). She had not previously handled a capital case. (R. Vol. VIII, EH, pp. 52-3). Nor had she had previously prepared mitigation evidence in a death case.

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