In The Supreme Court of Florida

JEFFREY	GLENN	HUTCHINSON	,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC08-99

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

Furthermore, as trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing, it was not a "viable route" to challenge the voice identification on the 911 tape. (Vol I 178). The defendant's father, in a deposition taken by the prosecutor, testified that he could not be sure that it was his son's voice due to the pitch. (Vol II 212-213). Hutchinson's mother's deposition testimony was that she could not tell either. (Vol II 213). Even if trial counsel presented a parade of other family members to say that the voice definitely was not Hutchinson's voice, the State could have presented Hutchinson's own

parents statements in their depositions saying that they could not tell if it was or was not their son's voice. Hutchinson mother's and father's deposition foreclosed any viable challenge to the voice identification. As trial counsel noted, Hutchinson's parents they would have been "destroyed on the stand." (Vol II 214).

Furthermore, defense counsel choose to use the 911 call in support of mitigation rather than deny it was Hutchinson's voice on the tape. Defense counsel presented the defendant's distress during the 911 call as mitigation in sentencing which the trial court found and accorded weight ("little weight"). Hutchinson, 882 So.2d at 960 (noting that the trial court found as a non-statutory mitigator that the "defendant was distressed during the 911 call").

Defense counsel made a reasonable strategic decision that rather than mounting a hopeless challenge to the identity of the 911 caller, he would use the distress in Hutchinson's voice during the 911 call as mitigation. Collateral counsel does not acknowledge that the cost of challenging the identity of the 911 caller would be to forgo this non-statutory mitigator.

Nor was there any prejudice. The jury would have rejected this testimony. The physical evidence supported the Adams' and the officers' testimony that it was Hutchinson's voice on the 911 tape and contradicted the evidentiary hearing witnesses' testimony. The officers testified that they found Hutchinson with the phone, that was still connected to the 911 operator, a few inches from Hutchinson's hand. The evidentiary hearing witnesses' testimony that it was not Hutchinson's voice cannot account for why the phone

was found near Hutchinson. The evidentiary hearing witnesses' testimony that it was not Hutchinson's voice cannot account for the caller stating "I just shot my family." Their testimony does not explain the pronoun "I". The 911 caller stated: "I love my family" which would be an inexplicable statement if two unrelated masked men had committed this crime. The 911 caller made the statement that his "girlfriend" was bleeding, not his "wife" or "ex-wife" was bleeding, as would be expected if Renee's ex-husband were the perpetrator. Indeed, their testimony cannot account for the perpetrator making such a call at all. Why would two unidentified masked perpetrators make a 911 call? The physical evidence and the content of the 911 conversation rebuts the testimony of the family and friends presented at the evidentiary hearing.

Moreover, if trial counsel had challenged the voice, the jury would have played the 911 tape over and over again to make the determination themselves thereby highlighting some of the most damaging evidence against Hutchinson. There was no prejudice.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the voice identification testimony. The trial court properly found that counsel was not ineffective for failing to present testimony regarding the identity of the voice on the 911 tape.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT INVESTIGATING THE NYLON STOCKING? (Restated)

Hutchinson asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence that a tan nylon stocking was found in the back yard to support Hutchinson's claim that two masked intruders committed the murders. Investigator Fields testified at the evidentiary hearing that he found a tan stocking near the pool. However, according to defendant's statement, the two perpetrators were wearing black ski masks, not a tan nylon stocking mask. Neither the color nor the type of material supported Hutchinson's claim. Furthermore, there was reasonable explanation for the presence of the stocking near the pool. The tan nylon stocking was used as a filter for the swimming pool. Thus, the trial court properly determined that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to present evidence that a tan nylon stocking had been found near the pool.

The trial court's ruling

The trial court denied this claim of ineffectiveness, ruling: Defendant alleges his trial attorneys were ineffective for failing to present exculpatory evidence at the crime scene which was discovered by an investigator, Darryl Fields, hired by Defendant's initial conflict attorneys.

(i) Nylon stocking:

Mr. Fields testified at the evidentiary hearing he went to the residence where the crimes occurred some time after the house was vacant and had been repainted and cleaned up. He found a lady's nylon stocking outside the back door near the patio in some mud, which he thought was significant due to information from Defendant that the attackers were wearing black stocking masks. ⁴⁸ The nylon stocking did not have any eye holes cut in it. ⁴⁹ Mr. Cobb, trial counsel, testified at the evidentiary hearing he was aware of the nylon stocking; however, further investigation revealed this nylon stocking was used as a pool filter at the residence. ⁵⁰ Deanna Adams testified in her deposition she had found the nylon stocking and Defendant told her it was used for pool filtration. ⁵¹ In addition, the nylon stocking did not match the description of the information Defendant gave to detectives, that two men wearing black ski masks broke in and attacked the victims. ⁵²

(PCR Vol VI 1092)(footnotes included but renumbered).

Merits

Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to present evidence that a tan nylon stocking was found in the back yard to support Hutchinson's claim that two masked intruders committed the murders. Investigator Fields testified at the evidentiary hearing that he found a tan stocking near the pool. However, according to defendant's statement, the two perpetrators were wearing black ski masks, not a tan nylon stocking mask. Neither the color nor the type of material supported Hutchinson's claim.

Furthermore, there was reasonable explanation for the presence of the stocking near the pool. The tan nylon stocking was used as a filter for the swimming pool. This evidence would simply be seen by

Evidentiary hearing transcript, Volume 1, pages 27-28.

Evidentiary hearing transcript, Volume 1, page 50.

Evidentiary hearing transcript, Volume 1, pages 199-200.

 $^{^{51}\,}$ Deposition of Deanna Adams, State's Exhibit 4 at the evidentiary hearing, page 22.

 $^{^{52}\,}$ ROA, Vol. XI, pages 1999, 2036, and 2188, portions of interview of Defendant by law enforcement, attached hereto as Exhibit N.

the jury as an irrelevant red herring. Thus, the trial court properly determined that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to present evidence that a tan nylon stocking had been found near the pool.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE ACTUAL INNOCENCE CLAIM AND THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST CLAIM? (Restated)

Hutchinson asserts that the trial court erred in summarily denying his actual innocence claim and his conflict of interest claim. Actual innocence claims, not based on newly discovered evidence, are improper in postconviction litigation. They are attempts to relitigate the sufficiency of the evidence addressed in the direct appeal of every capital case by this Court in violation of the law of the case doctrine. Neither an attorney's dislike of his client nor the client filing a bar complaint against the attorney is a conflict of interest situation under Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980). As the United States Supreme Court has recently explained, the concept of "conflict of interest" is limited to the multiple representations situation. This is not a multiple client situation. Nor may Hutchinson create a "conflict" by filing a meritless bar complaint. The trial court properly summarily denied both claims.

The trial court's ruling

On October 11, 2007, the Court entered an order summarily denying the two additional claims raised in the amended motion. (PC Vol. IV 787-788). The trial court rejected the Defendant's claim of actual innocence. The trial court quoted Hutchinson's assertion in his amended motion that the "findings of the Supreme Court of Florida, as far as they incriminate Hutchinson are mistaken and in error",

finding that claims of innocence "are not cognizable in a 3.850/3.851 motion absent a showing of newly discovered evidence" which Hutchinson did not make. (PC Vol. IV 787-788). The trial court explained that it was improper for a trial court to review the findings of the Florida Supreme Court as to the sufficiency of the evidence. (PC Vol. IV 788). The trial court also rejected the claim that Hutchinson was denied conflict-free counsel based on his trial attorney's personal dislike of him because "[a]ny alleged dislike of Defendant by his trial attorney does not constitute a conflict of interest." (PC Vol. IV 787-788).

Standard of review

The trial court summarily denied both claims as a matter of law and therefore, the standard of review is *de novo*. While normally, this Court speaks in terms of conclusively rebutted by the record that standard is for factually matter, not an claim that is summarily denied as a matter of law. *Taylor v. State*, 2008 WL 2445486, * 10 (Fla. June 19, 2008)(stating that a summary denial of a newly discovered evidence claim will be upheld if the motion is legally insufficient or its allegations are conclusively refuted by the record citing *McLin v. State*, 827 So.2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002)).

ACTUAL INNOCENCE

In his postconviction motion filed in the trial court, Hutchinson asserted that he did not commit these murders. Rather, he asserted that Renee's estranged husband, Geoffrey Flaherty, was the actual perpetrator of this crime. In his postconviction motion, postconviction counsel asserted "[t]he findings of the Supreme Court of Florida, as far as they incriminate Hutchinson are mistaken and in error." Here, the trial court correctly determined it was not proper for a trial court to review this Court's findings.

The Florida Supreme Court reviews the sufficiency of the evidence, including the identity of the perpetrator, in every capital case, whether the issue is raised on appeal or not. Buzia v. State, 926 So.2d 1203, 1217 (Fla. 2006)(explaining that "[a]lthough Buzia has not challenged the sufficiency of the evidence, we have the independent duty to review the record in each death penalty case to determine whether competent, substantial evidence supports the murder conviction); Fla. R. App. P. 9.142(a)(6)(stating: "In death penalty cases, whether or not insufficiency of the evidence or proportionality is an issue presented for review, the court shall review these issues and, if necessary, remand for the appropriate relief."). Moreover, issue V in the direct appeal was the sufficiency of the evidence of premeditation. The Florida Supreme Court concluded the evidence was sufficient to sustain a conviction of premeditated first-degree murder.

This Court should not entertain claims of actual innocence in postconviction appeals when the claim is not premised on newly

discovered evidence. This Court has already reviewed the evidence based on the existing record in the direct appeal and this Court's decision on the sufficiency of the evidence is law of the case. Hutchinson presents no new evidence. The record in this postconviction case is exactly the same record, in terms of evidence, that this Court already reviewed in the direct appeal, so this is just a second appeal of the same issue. Claims of actual innocence, not based on newly discovered evidence, are procedurally barred in postconviction appeals.

This Court recently rejected a claim of actual innocence in postconviction proceedings based on its prior opinion in the direct appeal. Jimenez v. State, 2008 WL 2445461, 11 (Fla. June 19, 2008) (rejecting an actual innocence claim in postconviction appeal, quoting the direct appeal opinion explaining the evidence and concluding there was no reasonable hypothesis of innocence on the facts in the direct appeal and then similarly concluding "that the evidence currently before us does not support the claim that Jimenez is innocent."). The evidence here, like the evidence in Jimenez, does not support the claim that Hutchinson is innocent.

This Court concluded the evidence was sufficient to sustain a conviction of premeditated first-degree murder based on both the weapon used, a pump-action shotgun, which "requires the user to pull the pump before aiming and firing each time" and "the period of time from the argument, which occurred between 7 and 7:30 p.m., to the actual murders, which occurred at approximately 8:30 p.m., was certainly enough time for Hutchinson to become conscious of the nature

of the act he was about to commit and the probable result of that act."

Hutchinson, 882 So.2d at 956.

As the Florida Supreme Court explained in the direct appeal opinion, Hutchinson presented two theories of defense at trial: "Hutchinson's defense at trial was that two men came into the house, he struggled with them, and they shot Renee and the children and fled" but "Hutchinson also presented the defense of intoxication, and he argued that this was a crime of passion, not first-degree murder." Hutchinson v. State, 882 So.2d 943, 948-949 (Fla. 2004). alternative defense of intoxication and heat of passion was an admission of being the shooter. In the 911 call, the caller stated: "I just shot my family." Both in the 911 call and in his alternative defense at trial, Hutchinson admitted his guilt. The deputies arrived at the residence within 10 minutes of the 911 call and found Hutchinson on the ground in the garage with the cordless phone receiver eight inches from Hutchinson's hand. (XXII 768-769). The phone call was still connected to the 911 operator. Hutchinson, 882 So. 2d at 948. Additionally, the State's DNA expert at trial, Candance Zuleger, testified that Hutchinson had Geoffrey's tissue on his leg. (XXIV 1174; XXVII 1616-1617). Hutchinson had gun shot residue on his hands according the test performed at 10:20 p.m. that night. (XXV 1250). The murder weapon was a Mossberg 12-gauge pistol-grip shotgun which was located on counter in the house. (XXII 621; XXVI 1547, 1552, 1557; XXVII 1710). Hutchinson's shotgun was positively identified as the murder weapon. Hutchinson, 882 So.2d at 943 (noting "[t]he murder weapon, a Mossberg 12-gauge pistol-grip

shotgun which belonged to Hutchinson, was found on the kitchen counter."). Hutchinson's version of events, *i.e.* two masked men with a Remington 870 shotgun committed these murders, was refuted by the evidence that the murder weapon was not that type of shotgun.

Furthermore, as the Florida Supreme Court observed in its direct appeal opinion, Hutchinson's first defense regarding the two men, with whom he struggled, was further rebutted. Hutchinson was examined by an EMT at the scene and a jail nurse and he had no injuries. Hutchinson, 882 So.2d at 948-949. Even if this Court allowed Hutchinson to, in effect, file a motion for rehearing years out of time by allowing him to attack these findings, Hutchinson does not point to any particular flaw on any of these findings. Rather, he merely assert the findings are mistaken and in error. He does explain how the findings are mistaken and does not point to where in the record they are refuted – just that they are mistaken and in error.

On appeal, Hutchinson attempts to morph his actual innocence claim presented to the trial court into an ineffective assistance of counsel claim for failing to present evidence of his innocence. Hutchinson may not raise a claim for the first time on appeal. Connor v. State, 979 So.2d 852, 866 (Fla. 2007)(denying relief because the confrontation issue was not raised in the 3.851 motion and explaining that an issue "may not be heard for the first time on appeal of a postconviction motion"); Evans v. State, 975 So.2d 1035, 1042 (Fla. 2007)(rejecting a claim as not preserved in appellate proceeding because it was not raised in the postconviction motion). Parties may not raise one version of a claim in the trial court and then raise

another different version of the claim in the appellate court. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the <u>specific</u> contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below."). Hutchinson should not be permitted to morph his claim on appeal.

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